Supreme Court No. 93480 5

Court of Appeals, Division I, No. 72845-8-1

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

POTELCO, INC.,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

CLERK OF THE SUPPLEME GOURT

V.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES, WASHINGTON

Defendant/Respondent.

## APPELLANT POTELCO, INC.'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

### RIDDELL WILLIAMS P.S.

Skylar A. Sherwood, WSBA #31896 Josias Flynn, WSBA #44130 Attorneys for Appellant Potelco, Inc. 1001 Fourth Avenue Suite 4500 Seattle, WA 98154-1192 (206) 624-3600 Facsimile: (206) 389-1708



#

## I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Potelco, Inc., a Washington corporation. Potelco asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision, which affirmed the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeal ("Board") decision upholding a citation issued by the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries ("Department").

## II. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed an unpublished decision in this matter on October 5, 2015. A copy of that decision is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

## III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does substantial evidence support a finding that an employer fails to establish the Unpreventable Employee Misconduct ("UEM") defense under Washington's Industrial Safety and Health Act ("WISHA"), even when there is evidence that (a) the employer has a safety manual that directs employees to comply with the WISHA rule at issue; (b) the employer provides training to its employees on that rule; (c) the employer performs safety audits to verify that employees follow WISHA rules; and (d) the employer enforces its safety program in practice?

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the evening of August 4, 2011, Puget Sound Energy ("PSE") called Potelco to replace a utility pole that had been hit by a drunk driver (Certified Appeal Board Record ("CABR") at 67). The responding Potelco crew consisted of foreman Bill Enger, linemen Jeff Richartz and James Waters, and apprentice Scott Hendrickson. *Id.* at 68.

To allow the crew to safely replace the damaged pole and move the existing wires onto the new pole, PSE de-energized the section of line Potelco needed to work with by isolating it from all sources of electricity, including the remaining live distribution line. *Id*; *see also* Transcript of Larry Rupe's Testimony, May 14, 2013 ("Rupe Tr.") at 71.

Afterwards, Waters and Hendrickson installed bracket grounds on the power line, immediately to the north and to the south of the broken pole. (CABR at 69; Rupe Tr. at 22.) Bracket grounding is a process that connects power lines to the earth, which provides a path to ground for any electricity in those lines. (Enger Tr. at 15-17.) In other words, if the isolated section of line that the crew was working with had somehow accidentally connected to the live line, the electricity would have flowed from the live distribution line through the bracket grounds and into the

ground, almost certainly avoiding any contact with Potelco's employees. *Id.* at 17-18. Once the bracket grounds were installed, Waters and Richartz started untying the power line from the broken pole, which was lying on the ground. (CABR at 3.)

Enger and Hendrickson then went to get their trucks, which were parked near the broken pole. *Id.* Enger planned to drive his truck past the worksite and then turn around at a location where he could shine his lights on the broken pole, to improve visibility at the worksite. (Rupe Tr. at 75.) As Waters was untying the de-energized line, he lost his balance and fell backward into Tiger Mountain road, at the same time Enger was driving slowly by the worksite. (Rupe Tr. at 14.) Unfortunately, Enger's vehicle struck Waters, who suffered fatal injuries. *Id.* This fatality is not the subject of the Citation at issue here.

Department Compliance Safety and Health Officer George Richard Maxwell ("Inspector Maxwell") opened an inspection of the Tiger Mountain worksite, in response to Waters' fatality. Inspector Maxwell observed the worksite and interviewed the crew. Following Maxwell's inspection, the Department issued Potelco Citation No. 315093880 for violating WAC 296-45-345(3), because the crew failed to establish an equipotential zone ("EPZ") at its worksite. The Potelco crew

unexpectedly violated Potelco's well-established work rule when it failed to set up an EPZ.

Potelco has a detailed Company Policy and Safety Guide ("Safety Manual") that covers a wide range of topics, including EPZs. (Rupe Tr. at 16-18; Exhibit No. 1.) The Safety Manual directs employees to build an EPZ when working on or near electric lines. *Id.* 

Potelco also trains its employees on building EPZs.For example,

Potelco holds a detailed 10-hour training course referred to as the OSHA10 T&D, which includes training on an extensive list of safety topics
related to the electrical construction industry. (Rupe Tr. at 40-41; Exhibit
Nos. 5 and 30.) During the OSHA-10, Potelco leads its employees
through an in-depth presentation on EPZs, including the purpose of EPZs,
when to use an EPZ, and how to build one. (Rupe Tr. at 40-42; Exhibit
No. 5.) Every member of Potelco's crew had completed the entire OSHA10 T&D course, and therefore had received comprehensive training on
EPZs, prior to the Department's inspection in this case. (Enger Tr. at
10-11; Exhibit Nos. 5, 9-12.).

Potelco takes steps to ensure that its employees follow its safety rules, such as establishing EPZs. Potelco employs several safety coordinators, whose main job duty is to perform safety audits on Potelco

crews. (Rupe Tr. at 30-31, 61-62.) These safety managers conduct random and unannounced inspections daily. *Id.* at 62-63. When a safety violation is discovered, the offending crew is counseled and/or disciplined, and the crew is later re-inspected to ensure compliance with all safety issues. *Id.* at 63-64, 66-67.

## B. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Potelco appealed the Department's Citation to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals on May 7, 2012 (CABR at 46-47). The Board conducted a hearing at its Seattle office before Judge Mychal Schwartz on May 14-15, 2013. (Transcript of Judge Mychal Schwartz's Opening Statement, May 14, 2013 at 3, and May 15, 2013 at 2.) Judge Steven Straume issued a Proposed Decision and Order on August 27, 2013, affirming the Citation. (CABR at 20-31.) Potelco filed a timely Petition for Review. (CABR at 8-15.) The Board granted Potelco's Petition for Review, and on October 15, 2013, the Board issued a Final Decision and Order affirming the Citation. (CABR at 1-4.) On November 14, 2013, Potelco appealed the Board's Decision and Order to the King County Superior Court. (Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., King County Cause No. 13-2-38928-2, Dkt. #1.) On November 14, 2014, Judge Bruce Heller entered an order affirming the Board's

Decision and Order. CP 31-33. Potelco appealed to the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division I, on December 15, 2014. (*Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, King County Cause No. 13-2-38928-2, Dkt. #20.) The Court of Appeals filed an unpublished decision in this matter on October 5, 2015. *See* Exhibit A.

### V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b)(4) states that a petition for review will be accepted if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Such is the case here.

WISHA was enacted for the "public interest," and is designed "to assure, *insofar as may reasonably be possible*, safe and healthful working conditions for every man and woman working in the state of Washington." RCW 49.17.010 (emphasis added).

When a WISHA citation is issued but the employer believes it has taken all reasonable efforts to comply with WISHA, the employer may pursue the affirmative defense of unpreventable employee misconduct, which, if established, releases the employer from liability for the cited violation. RCW 49.17.120(5)(a); *Legacy Roofing, Inc. v. Wash. State Dept. of Labor and Indus.*, 129 Wn. App. 356, 362-63, 119 P.3d 366 (2005). This Petition raises an issue that will clarify the circumstances

under which an employer has taken all reasonable steps to comply with WISHA—a statute that was specifically enacted for the "public interest." RCW 49.17.010. Thus, this Petition involves a matter of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

# VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Potelco respectfully requests that the Court accept Potelco's Petition for Review, because it involves a matter of substantial public interest.

DATED this 4<sup>th</sup> day of November, 2015.

RIDDELL WILLIAMS P.S.

Skylar A. Sherwood, WSBA #31896

Josias Flynn, WSBA #44130

Attorneys for Appellant Potelco, Inc.