RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Nov 23, 2015, 3:14 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 92480-5

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

POTELCO, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Anastasia Sandstrom Senior Counsel WSBA No. 24163 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-7740

I. INTRODUCTION

Potelco identifies no error committed by the Court of Appeals and none exists. This case involves the routine application of facts to undisputed law. At the administrative hearing level, Potelco asserted the affirmative defense of unpreventable employee misconduct to excuse its lack of compliance with the Washington Industrial Safety & Health Act (WISHA). But to establish this defense, it had to provide all necessary safety equipment to its workers and have a comprehensive safety program, with safety rules adequately communicated to its workers. RCW 49.17.120. Substantial evidence shows that Potelco did neither.

In its petition, Potelco asks for review on the ground that WISHA cases are a matter of public interest because of the remedial legislative policy embodied in the Act, and because the issue of unpreventable employee misconduct would present an issue of substantial public interest. Beyond these general statements, Potelco presents no specific reason for review and it identifies no disputed issue. This Court should deny review.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Review should not be granted, but if it were, the issue is:

Does substantial evidence support the Board's decision that Potelco did not prove unpreventable employee misconduct where Potelco did not provide necessary safety equipment, where the safety manual had incorrect information, and where key personnel did not know about the "equipotential zone" requirement?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Potelco Set Up a Power Line Jobsite Without Setting Up an "Equipotential Zone"

Potelco provides services related to power lines. BR Rupe 7-8. On August 4, 2011, a Potelco crew responded to a report of a broken power pole along Tiger Mountain Road in Issaquah. BR Rupe 9-10. An automobile collision broke the pole, leaving high voltage power lines, as well as the damaged pole, either on or in close proximity to the ground. BR Rupe 10-12. These power lines could become energized while the crew was working in the vicinity, and those energized lines could cause death or serious bodily harm to anyone coming into contact with them. BR Rupe 20-22, 26; BR Maxwell 120, 134-35.

The responding Potelco crew consisted of foreman Bill Enger, linemen Jeff Richartz and James Waters, and apprentice Scott Hendrickson. BR Rupe 13.

After arriving, the crew held a safety meeting reviewing the work to be performed. BR Enger 24. WAC 296-45-345(3) requires a specific type of grounding for workers working with power lines:

Equipotential zone. Temporary protective grounds shall be placed at such locations and arranged in such a manner as

¹ The certified appeal board record is cited as "BR." Testimony is cited as BR followed by the witness name.

to prevent each employee from being exposed to hazardous differences in electrical potential.

The foreman did not instruct the crew to use this type of grounding. BR Enger 24, 50. Waters and Hendrickson installed bracket grounds on the power line both north and south of the damaged pole. BR Enger 15. Known as "bracket grounding," this process connects power lines to the ground for the purpose of directing any electrical current through the bracket grounds and into the ground so that any current would not make contact with members of the repair crew. Ex. 1 at 11-1. Bracket grounding is not "equipotential zone" grounding under WAC 296-45-345(3). BR Rupe 22, 24-25, 76.

The crew did not set up an "equipotential zone" (EPZ) or use an EPZ grounding mat. BR Rupe 18; BR Enger 24. Both the foreman Enger and lineman Richartz testified that they did not know that an EPZ was required. BR Enger 14, 45; BR Richartz 62.

Unrelated to the EPZ issue, a worker was killed by a motor vehicle at the job site, triggering an investigation. BR Rupe 13-14.

B. The Board Affirmed the Department's Citation, Finding That Potelco Did Not Have a Thorough Safety Program or Adequate Communication of Safety Rules

The Department of Labor & Industries cited Potelco for failing to set up an EPZ. BR 1. At hearing, Potelco admitted that it violated the

regulation requiring an EPZ, but argued that its conduct should be excused by the defense of unpreventable employee misconduct. BR Maxwell 139. The defense of unpreventable employee misconduct requires the employer to prove it has a thorough safety program, including all necessary equipment, and that it has adequately communicated safety rules to its employees. RCW 49.17.120. The Board found that neither occurred here.

It found that Potelco did not have a thorough safety program and did not give safety equipment to the workers. BR 3 (FF 7). At hearing, there was evidence of lack of equipment. Although the safety director testified that the crew should have had an EPZ mat at the Tiger Mountain site, the foreman testified that Potelco did not provide EPZ mats to its employees. BR Rupe 20; BR Enger 19, 23, 51.

The Board further found that Potelco did not communicate its safety program to the workers. BR 3 (FF 8). At hearing, Potelco pointed to safety training it provided to its employees by way of its safety manual. BR Rupe 33. Potelco uses as its safety manual a publication from its parent company Quanta that also applies to other states, and includes information not applicable in Washington. BR Rupe 81-83. The manual directs that when dealing with downed power lines, "personal protective grounds must be installed on both sides of the work location, and all workers must wear approved rubber gloves or stand on a conductive mat."

Ex. 1 at 11-14. Although the Potelco safety manual lists rubber gloves as a method to protect employees, Potelco's safety director admitted that Washington does not allow rubber gloves to be used as a primary method of temporary protective grounding for projects such as the Tiger Mountain site. Ex. 1 at 11-14; BR Rupe 82; WAC 296-45-325(9).²

C. The Superior Court and Court of Appeals Affirmed the Board

The superior court affirmed the Board and the Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court. *Potelco v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, No. 72845-8-I, slip op. 1 (Oct. 5, 2015). The Court of Appeals noted that "at oral argument, counsel for Potelco conceded that a reasonable trier of fact could find, based on the record, that the training provided by Potelco was insufficient insofar as it concerned EPZ zones." Slip op. 6. The Court of Appeals pointed to two pieces of evidence that support finding that the safety program was not thorough. Slip op. 7. First, rubber gloves may only be used "on 5,000 volts or less between phases," WAC 296-45-325(9), and the voltage at the Tiger Mountain worksite was 12,470 volts phase to phase. *Id.* Yet the manual directed the unrestricted use of rubber gloves. *Id.* at 6-7. Second, the safety director testified that the Tiger Mountain

² WISHA's electrical worker protection regulations prohibit the use of rubber gloves as primary protection unless the voltage is 5,000 volts or less phase to phase. WAC 296-45-325(9). At the Tiger Mountain worksite, the voltage was 12,470 volts phase to phase. BR Richartz 56.

crew should have had a mat, but the foreman testified that mats were not made available to employees. Slip op. 7.

The Court held that the evidence supporting the finding of inadequate communication of safety rules was that the foreman and a long-time lineman both believed that bracket grounding was sufficient. Slip op. 7.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Potelco Points To No Error by the Court of Appeals

Potelco does not point to any error committed by the Court of Appeals. Instead it cites to the statute that provides the unpreventable employee misconduct defense and asserts that "This petition raises an issue that will clarify the circumstances under which an employer has taken all reasonable steps to comply with WISHA." Pet. 6-7. Potelco provides no argument or explanation of what will be clarified. Review should not be granted where the Court and the opposing party need to speculate as to why the petitioner seeks this Court's extraordinary review.

B. Potelco Points to No Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Potelco argues that review should be accepted because WISHA is a statute "specifically enacted for the 'public interest." Pet. at 7. It is true the Legislature enacted WISHA to provide work place safety protection to workers. RCW 49.17.010. This does not mean, however, that all WISHA

cases must be accepted for review—such a rule flies in the face of RAP 13.4(b). In any event, Potelco fails to explain how an employer who has admitted to violating WISHA presents a substantial issue of public interest when it is undisputed that it did not provide the work place safety requirements mandated by RCW 49.17. Given that undisputed point alone, it is unremarkable that the Board and two lower courts have rejected Potelco's defense.

At the Court of Appeals, this case consisted of a party disputing whether substantial evidence supports the findings of the fact-finder. Such a case presents no issue that warrants review, especially where Potelco conceded matters such that a reasonable fact finder could, and did, find against it.

V. CONCLUSION

The petition lacks merit. This Court should deny review.